QUESTIONS & ANSWERS:

PREVENTION OF SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED AND BLOOD BORNE INFECTIONS AMONG OLDER ADULTS







TO PROMOTE AND PROTECT THE HEALTH OF CANADIANS THROUGH LEADERSHIP, PARTNERSHIP, INNOVATION AND ACTION IN PUBLIC HEALTH.

—Public Health Agency of Canada

Également disponible en français sous le titre :

Questions et réponses : Prévention des infections transmissibles sexuellement et par le sang chez les adultes âgés

To obtain additional information, please contact:

Public Health Agency of Canada Address Locator 0900C2 Ottawa, ON K1A 0K9 Tel.: 613-957-2991

Toll free: 1-866-225-0709 Fax: 613-941-5366 TTY: 1-800-465-7735

E-mail: publications@hc-sc.gc.ca

This publication can be made available in alternative formats upon request.

© Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, as represented by the Minister of Health, 2015

Publication date: April 2015

This publication may be reproduced for personal or internal use only without permission provided the source is fully acknowledged.

Cat.: HP40-137/2015E-PDF ISBN: 978-1-100-25834-8

Pub.: 140519

QUESTIONS & ANSWERS:

PREVENTION OF SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED AND BLOOD BORNE INFECTIONS AMONG OLDER ADULTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREFACE	1
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	2
INTRODUCTION	3
LIMITATIONS	4
WHAT DO WE KNOW ABOUT SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED AND BLOOD BORNE INFECTIONS (STBBIS) AMONG OLDER ADULTS IN CANADA?	5
WHAT ARE THE INDIVIDUAL AND BEHAVIOURAL FACTORS THAT IMPACT SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED AND BLOOD BORNE INFECTION (STBBI) PREVENTION FOR OLDER ADULTS?	5
KNOWLEDGE AND AWARENESS	
ATTITUDES	
RISK BEHAVIOURS	
	O
WHAT ARE THE INTERPERSONAL, SOCIAL, AND COMMUNITY NETWORK FACTORS THAT IMPACT SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED AND BLOOD BORNE INFECTION (STBBI) PREVENTION FOR OLDER ADULTS?	6
RELATIONSHIP STATUS	
RELATIONSHIP ENVIRONMENT	
HEALTH CARE PROVIDERS	
TRAVEL AND SNOWBIRDS	
WHAT ARE THE SOCIAL, STRUCTURAL, AND ECONOMIC DETERMINANTS THAT IMPACT	
SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED AND BLOOD BORNE INFECTION (STBBI) PREVENTION AMONG	
OLDER ADULTS?	
DISCRIMINATION AND AGEISM	
MENTAL HEALTH AND MENTAL ILLNESS	
SOCIAL CONNECTEDNESS	0
SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS	1
GENDER	1
SEXUAL ORIENTATION	2
WHAT ARE THE KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED AND BLOOD BORNE INFECTION (STBBI) PREVENTION AMONG OLDER ADULTS?	3
CO-MORBIDITIES	3
CHALLENGES IN DIAGNOSIS	3
BIOLOGICAL AND PHYSIOLOGICAL CHANGES	4
COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENTS 1.	л

WHAT ARE THE KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR OLDER ADULTS LIVING WITH CHRONIC SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED AND BLOOD BORNE INFECTIONS (STBBIS),	
HIV, AND HEPATITIS C?	15
DISCLOSURE	16
ACCESS TO TREATMENT, CARE AND SUPPORT	16
INCREASED RISK FOR OTHER HEALTH CONDITIONS	17
PSYCHOLOGICAL AND PHYSICAL WELLBEING	17
WHAT CAN I DO TO SUPPORT SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED AND BLOOD BORNE	
INFECTION (STBBI) PREVENTION AMONG OLDER ADULTS?	18
PERSONAL	18
PROGRAMMING	18
CAPACITY BUILDING	19
PARTNERSHIPS AND COLLABORATION	20
HOW CAN I HELP TO BUILD RESILIENCE AMONG OLDER ADULTS?	21
CONCLUDING REMARKS	23
ADDITIONAL RESOURCES	24
ORGANIZATIONS	24
NON-FICTION BOOKS	26
ONLINE RESOURCES	26
ENDNOTES	30

PREFACE

Questions & Answers: Prevention of sexually transmitted and blood borne infections among older adults is intended to address the most commonly asked questions about the prevention of sexually transmitted and blood borne infections (STBBIs)ⁱ among older adults. The goal of this resource is to help community organizations, health professionals, educators, and others develop and implement STBBI prevention interventions and programs that address the needs of this population. For the purpose of this resource, 50 years of age and older was the criteria applied to define older adult. This document examines factors that impact vulnerability to and resilience against STBBIs and provides a basis to address the prevention needs of this population.

The Canadian Guidelines for Sexual Health Education (Guidelines) were first published by the Public Health Agency of Canada (the Agency) in 1994¹ and most recently revised in 2008. They were developed to help health professionals and educators in their efforts to provide broadly based sexual health education for the prevention of STBBIs. Feedback from a national evaluation of the *Guidelines* indicated the need for companion documents to provide more detailed information, evidence, and resources on specific populations to support STBBI prevention.

In response, the Agency identified a 'question and answer' format as a means to provide this population-specific information. These question and answer documents are evidence-informed, use inclusive language, and cover a range of key issues for the prevention of STBBIs among diverse populations. This resource is the fifth in the series, which also includes Questions and Answers documents on sexual orientation, gender identity, sexual health education for youth with physical disabilities, and inclusive practice in the prevention of STBBIs among ethnocultural minorities.

¹ Sexually transmitted and blood borne infections (STBBIs) refer to infectious diseases that are transmitted through bodily fluids such as blood, vaginal fluids and semen. They include: chlamydia, gonorrhea, hepatitis B, hepatitis C, syphilis, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), human papillomavirus (HPV), genital herpes, lymphogranuloma venereum (LGV), and trichomoniasis.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Agency would like to thank Michele Cauch, Heather Cobb, Paula Migliardi, Kate Murzin, and Alex McKay, whose feedback and guidance ensured that this resource contains current and relevant evidence about STBBIs among older adults. In addition, the Agency would like to acknowledge the staff of the Centre for Communicable Diseases and Infection Control and the Centre for Chronic Disease Prevention for their contributions to this document.

INTRODUCTION

Canadians are now living longer and healthier lives. As life expectancy continues to increase, so do issues related to the physical, mental and social health and well-being of an aging population. There is a continued need to create and maintain opportunities for individuals to age well. The burden of infectious and chronic diseases among an aging population is a public health concern due to its impact on quality of life for both individuals and communities.

OLDER AGED ADULT: For the purpose of this resource, 50 years of age and older was the criteria applied to define older adult.

Although younger people continue to account for the highest rates of sexually transmitted and blood borne infections (STBBIs), epidemiological data indicates that rates among older adults are increasing. At the same time, advances in medical technology have improved our ability to treat many chronic STBBIs, including HIV and hepatitis C, allowing those who acquired these infections at an earlier age to manage and maintain good health as they age.

HEALTHY AGING: The development and maintenance of optimal mental, social and physical well-being and function in older adults.

It is important to take into consideration the social, economic, and cultural contexts that shape individual experiences and health outcomes. In particular, the transition from earlier to latter stages of adulthood is marked by many changes, and can be a time of evolving social roles and relationships. While some older adults can experience decreased or limited sexual activity or desire, a large majority remain sexually active². Studies have also indicated that sex, sexual desire, and sexuality continue to be important and relevant to adults regardless of their age³. Furthermore, sexual activity and desire for those over 50 is more strongly associated with their overall physical and mental health than their age⁴.

LIFECOURSE: A culturally defined sequence of events and roles that one passes through as they progress from birth to death.

For some, older age may also include the continuation of substance use or the onset of new drug use as a result of social isolation⁵. Additionally, there are some who may have received infected blood products from medical procedures or experimented with injection drug use when younger and have been unknowingly exposed to hepatitis C, and are only now experiencing symptoms.

SOCIAL ISOLATION: The absence of personal interactions, contacts, and relationships with family, friends and neighbours on an individual level, and with "society at large" on a broader level.

Risk behaviours such as unprotected sex and drug use can be affected by individual, community and structural factors, and can place those over 50 at increased risk of STBBIs if not properly addressed. Adopting a lifecourse approach to healthy aging allows for the development of programs and services that address STBBI risks specific to those life changes and experiences unique to this population, including ones tailored to support those living with chronic STBBIs.

LIFECOURSE APPROACH: An approach which takes into consideration how different historical, socio-economic and cultural factors intersect with one's lifecourse to shape individual experiences.

While there are common factors influencing the vulnerability of older adults to STBBIs, this population is highly diverse. Within this age group exists individuals who are either in the workforce or retired, who live independently or who may require varying degrees of care, and those who are supported by family/friends or those who are experiencing periods or feelings of increased isolation. Similarly, they come from a vast array of backgrounds, cultures and ethnicities and their lived experiences may be wide ranging.

While acknowledging the complexity and diversity of this age group, this resource attempts to address the commonalities at various stages of the lifecourse which can impact on STBBI prevention. It is important for health care and service providers to understand the particulars of the population with which they are engaged and tailor the information provided in this resource to their specific needs and life stages.

This resource is intended to help community organizations, health professionals, and educators to develop and implement programs and interventions for the prevention of STBBIs and support those living with HIV and hepatitis C infections to ensure that:

- 1. programming is inclusive of the needs of older adults, including those living with HIV and/ or hepatitis C;
- 2. the experiences of older adults are reflected in STBBI prevention and support programming;
- 3. professionals working with older adults are aware of key issues and determinants of vulnerability to STBBIs;
- 4. professionals working in STBBI prevention, care and support have the necessary tools to address these key issues.

LIMITATIONS

At present, the available Canadian research on STBBI prevention for older adults is scarce and, as such, many of the reported findings in this resource are drawn from international literature on the topic. Additionally, most of the available literature focuses primarily on HIV, although lessons learned from HIV in many instances can be applied to other STBBIs when adopting an integrated approach to prevention. Furthermore, many of the articles reviewed are based on relatively small and geographically specific samples which limit the generalizability of the findings. Also of note, while injection drug use can impact STBBI vulnerability in older adults, there is very little evidence in the literature that investigates this relationship. As a result, this document focuses primarily on the sexual risks that affect STBBI vulnerability in older adults.

WHAT DO WE KNOW ABOUT SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED AND BLOOD BORNE INFECTIONS (STBBIS) AMONG OLDER ADULTS IN CANADA?

In 2011, adults over 50 years old comprised more than 35% of Canada's population, an increase of over 15% from 2006⁶. As Canada's population continues to grow older, live longer, and enjoy better health, there has also been a rise in STBBI rates in this demographic.

Although younger people continue to account for the highest rates of STBBIs, epidemiological data indicate that rates among older adults are increasing. For example, in 2011, adults aged 50 and older represented 18.2% of all positive HIV tests in Canada, up from 10.6% in 1999. The number of those over 50 who are living with HIV also continues to rise as advances in HIV care increase the number of people living with HIV (PHA) who survive into older age. While overall prevalence of most STBBIs among this population remains significantly lower than younger age groups, recent trends do indicate that prevalence is increasing. Between 2002 and 2011, chlamydia cases in people over age 60 have increased over three times (from 93 in 2002 to 309 in 2011), gonorrhea cases have more than doubled (from 64 in 2002 to 154 in 2011), and syphilis cases have increased close to five times (from 13 in 2002 to 69 in 2011). During the same time period, women over age 60 had the highest relative rate increase (over 269%) for both chlamydia and gonorrhea. Similarly, recent data indicate that the prevalence of hepatitis C for those aged 50 to 79 is twice as high as those aged 14 to 49, representing almost two-thirds of all chronic infections.

WHAT ARE THE INDIVIDUAL AND BEHAVIOURAL FACTORS THAT IMPACT SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED AND BLOOD BORNE INFECTION (STBBI) PREVENTION FOR OLDER ADULTS?

KNOWLEDGE AND AWARENESS

Studies have demonstrated that adults over 50 are less knowledgeable about STBBIs, their transmission routes, and prevention techniques¹¹. Low levels of knowledge and awareness can be attributed to several factors. First, there is a lack of information about STBBIs tailored to this population. Second, STBBI prevention messaging is predominantly geared toward a younger audience, often as a result of the perception that those over 50 are not at risk for STBBIs¹². Third, school based sexual health education, for those who may have received it, focused more on sexual morality than sexual physiology and would not have covered topics such as HIV and hepatitis C as they had yet to become a concern¹³. Lastly, this age group has often been excluded as an area of focus for research addressing sexual activity, sexual behaviour, and STBBI risk. This has limited the ability to create evidence-based educational prevention messaging that is adequately tailored to this population¹⁴.

^{II} In Canada, the age groups for the collection of surveillance data for sexually transmitted infections (STIs), other than HIV, with respect to older adults, are for those aged 40 to 59 and those 60 and up. As such, it was not possible to extract specific data for those aged 50 years and older. Data provided here represent only people aged 60 years and older.

ATTITUDES

In general, older adults do not perceive themselves to be at risk for STBBIs¹⁵. The lack of targeted STBBI education, information, and programming available may suggest that they are not susceptible to STBBIs, reinforcing the misconception that this age group is not at risk¹⁶. This low perception of risk can limit the adoption of STBBI prevention behaviours and may contribute to lower rates of testing¹⁷. Attitudes toward dating may also contribute to increased risk for STBBIs for those within this population who seek less serious or casual relationships¹⁸.

It is estimated that 44% of people infected with hepatitis C are unaware of their infection¹⁹. As indicated earlier, some may have been exposed to the virus many years ago as a result of sharing drug equipment (even once) or through medical procedures or blood products. Since many do not presently engage in risk behaviours for hepatitis C, such as injection drug use, they may have a low perception of risk.

RISK BEHAVIOURS

Research indicates that older adults share the same risk behaviours for STBBIs as younger adults, including unprotected sex, multiple sexual partners, and low rates of STBBI testing²⁰. Low levels of condom use and STBBI testing observed in this population have been attributed to a low perception of risk for STBBIs²¹. Decreased condom use may also be attributed to the perceptions around decreased risk of pregnancy for those over 50²². Interventions that address sexual risk behaviours among older PHA have been shown to be effective, especially those that provided essential information on STBBI risk, condom use and negotiation skills²³.

Programs and interventions that address the low levels of knowledge, awareness and perceived risk amongst this population would be an integral component of STBBI prevention and can provide those over 50 with valuable information and skills to address potential risk behaviours and protect themselves from STBBIs.

WHAT ARE THE INTERPERSONAL, SOCIAL, AND COMMUNITY NETWORK FACTORS THAT IMPACT SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED AND BLOOD BORNE INFECTION (STBBI) PREVENTION FOR OLDER ADULTS?

RELATIONSHIP STATUS

As adults progress through the various lifecourse stages, some may face a change in their relationship status due to the loss of a partner through widowhood, separation, or divorce²⁴. Additionally, some may choose this time in their life to openly express a sexual orientation or gender identity that was suppressed in their younger years. These life events can create a situation where older adults are re-entering a dating scene which may be quite different from the one they remember.

RELATIONSHIP ENVIRONMENT

The social environment within which those over 50 are forming new sexual relationships has also changed since they were younger. For example, technology has resulted in the growth of the online dating industry which older adults have been accessing to make social connections. Research suggests that online dating may lead to increased sexual risk²⁵. Sexual activity in older age has also seen an increase resulting from the marketing and use of erectile dysfunction medication which serves to facilitate a more active sex life among those over 50²⁶.

Engaging in safer sexual relationships requires honest and open communication between potential partners. Some adults over 50 report difficulty in communicating with their new partners when it comes to discussing sexual history, drug use behaviours, and negotiating safer sex²⁷. Conversations about such topics can be daunting and many may feel unequipped with the necessary knowledge or communication skills to discuss them comfortably.

HEALTH CARE PROVIDERS

Sexual health concerns, including STBBIs and drug use behaviours, are not subjects that are routinely discussed by older adults and their health care providers²⁸. Health care providers often overlook this population as an audience for sexual health and STBBI education and prevention, and are reluctant to initiate the conversation with these patients²⁹. The assumption that these clients are not engaging in high-risk behaviours also limits the willingness of health care providers to test and screen for STBBIs. At the same time, those over 50, and in particular women, are less likely to raise questions or to bring up the topic unprompted³⁰. Yet studies have shown that the majority within this population indicate they would like to receive more sexual health information from their health care provider³¹. Those who do receive STBBI information from their health care provider have been found to have higher STBBI knowledge and awareness than those who receive their information from other sources³².

TRAVEL AND SNOWBIRDS

Retirement provides an increased opportunity for travel for many Canadians. Travelling, either in a group or independently, provides the opportunity to meet new people and expand social networks while also increasing the potential of new sexual partnerships. International travel has also been associated with increased sexual risk-taking³³.

SNOWBIRD: A person who vacations in or moves to a warmer climate during cold weather.

Florida, home to more than a half million Canadian snowbirds every year, has the highest HIV and sexual risk behaviour rates for those over 50 in the United States³⁴. One study of Canadian snowbirds demonstrated that they were engaging in sexual risk behaviours, such as inconsistent condom use and multiple sexual partners, and had low participation rates in HIV testing³⁵.

Addressing the issues and concerns which may be raised as a result of changes to one's relationships and social environments can help to empower adults over 50 to limit their risk to STBBIs. Enhancing their communication with service providers and partners through education and skills training may also increase their ability to engage in safer sexual behaviours.

WHAT ARE THE SOCIAL, STRUCTURAL, AND ECONOMIC DETERMINANTS THAT IMPACT SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED AND BLOOD BORNE INFECTION (STBBI) PREVENTION AMONG OLDER ADULTS?

There are several health determinants which can impact STBBI prevention among older adults including:

- · discrimination and ageism;
- mental health and mental illness;
- social connectedness;
- socio-economic status;
- gender;
- sexual orientation.

The impact of these determinants on an older adult's vulnerability to or resilience against STBBIs can vary greatly depending on their life histories to this point and their present lifecourse stage. For example, the effect of socio-economic status could be quite different for a 55 year old who is currently employed as compared to a 75 year old widower on a fixed income. Additionally, the effect of these determinants can continue to evolve and change as people continue to age and transition through further life stages. It is important that health care and service providers be aware of how these determinants may affect their clientele based on individual circumstances and life stages in order to ensure the greatest impact of STBBI prevention programs and interventions.

While most of the current literature focuses on the impacts of these determinants on the vulnerability of older adults to STBBIs, lessons can be learned from research conducted on fostering resilience among other populations. Evidence in this area demonstrates that factors such as strong social support networks and supportive communities and social environments can have a positive impact on a person's resilience against STBBIs.

DISCRIMINATION AND AGEISM

Ageism is discrimination based on a person's age and is expressed by how we think about older adults, both in our social and historical perceptions of aging, and how we tend to structure our society to address the needs of younger adults and thereby neglect the needs of older ones³⁶. Ageism, which can be overt or systemic, takes many forms, including inequitable treatment and access to resources, and abuse of various kinds including psychological, physical and financial.

AGEISM: Prejudice and/or discrimination on the basis of a person's age.

Experiences of ageism may differ as a result of the multiple characteristics and varied life experiences that make up a person's identity. Ageism can be experienced alongside other forms of discrimination based on race, ethnicity, disability, gender identity, or sexual orientation. For example, those who are also members of lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) communities may experience multiple layers of discrimination in the form of homophobia, heterosexism, and ageism. Similarly, for older adults who are living with a chronic STBBI such as HIV, the resulting stigma and discrimination can affect their access to health and social services and to information and educational resources³⁷.

INTERNALIZED AGEISM: The extent to which older adults take on the social norms that devalue or marginalize older persons. It can have a powerful influence on an individual's aging experience.

Experiencing ageism can have a negative effect on identity, sexuality, and mental health, including self-esteem and self-efficacy. Internalized ageism, or the extent to which older adults absorb the social norms that devalue them, may have negative effects on their physical and mental health³⁸. Accompanying ageism is the fear of potential rejection from service providers, family, and friends as a result of misconceptions related to age. Ageism can affect one's ability to access sexual health education, services, and programming as well as the development of tailored STBBI messaging³⁹.

The stigma and discrimination that this population may experience can affect STBBI prevention, treatment, care, and support, and can contribute to poor health outcomes. Individuals and communities alike can help combat ageism and discrimination by reflecting upon their own perceptions and attitudes towards this population group. As well, talking with older adults about sexuality, learning about aging and the issues they face may help service providers to better appreciate the needs and realities of those over 50.

MENTAL HEALTH AND MENTAL ILLNESS

The prevalence of mental illness among older adults in Canada remains high. This includes those growing older with a mental illness and those who are experiencing the onset of mental illness in their older years⁴⁰.

There is a strong relationship between poor mental health, mental illness, and vulnerability to STBBIs⁴¹. Depression, low self-esteem, and low self-efficacy have been shown to affect the development and maintenance of safer sex practices in older PHA⁴². Individuals with higher levels of self-efficacy reported intention to engage in safer sex, as well as decreased rates of HIV risk behaviours⁴³.

SELF-EFFICACY: A person's belief and confidence that they have the ability to perform the behaviour.

Those over 50 can also experience poor mental health as a result of changing social roles, relationships and life transitions including retirement, bereavement, caregiving and a loss of independence over their personal environments. The change in daily routine and the elimination of work-related stressors that accompany retirement can have an immediate positive effect on mental health and functioning. However, the potential loss of social interactions and accustomed routines, increased isolation, and concerns about financial security may contribute to an increased risk of depression over the long term⁴⁴.

The profound feelings associated with bereavement can trigger emotions that take time to process. Depression is the most common mental illness that can result from bereavement. While most individuals will eventually work through the varying stages of bereavement, some may not, and the associated depression can deepen over time. Additionally, older PHA may experience a prolonged sense of bereavement due to the loss of many of their peers⁴⁵.

Positive mental health, including self-esteem, self-efficacy, a sense of worth, satisfaction with life, and a resilient mindset have been shown to support the overall health of older adults and are protective factors from acquiring mental illness⁴⁶.

RESILIENT MINDSET: State of mind that allows one to be better able to solve or cope with problems as they arise.

It is important to remember that poor mental health is not a natural part of aging. The assumption that it is can discourage individuals from seeking treatment or mental health support services. Through interventions and community action, service and health care providers can address the risks faced by this population and improve their positive mental health. Programs which promote positive mental health have been found to reduce the risks of mental illness and may thereby decrease one's vulnerability to STBBIs.

SOCIAL CONNECTEDNESS

As adults move through their lifecourse they may experience changes to their social networks and support systems. Life experiences and a person's ability to adapt can influence their response to these changes. Some individuals may actively seek out new social contacts while others may withdraw from social connections and activities, which can lead to isolation. Both responses can affect vulnerability to STBBIs.

Interactions with spouses, partners, friends, and colleagues provide both social support and guidance and are important in maintaining one's physical and mental health. The gradual loss of these networks and relationships as people age can result in a degree of social isolation which many may counteract by seeking comfort and support in new relationships. New living environments can also provide the opportunity to form new relationships. Adult living communities, retirement homes, and assisted living facilities can all serve to introduce individuals to potential new partners and may increase sexual contacts and risk behaviours⁴⁷.

For others, diminishing social networks may result in decreasing levels of social participation. Those who take on the role of caregiver for a parent, partner, or loved one are at an increased risk for social isolation due to their limited time and capacity for social interactions. Over time, social isolation has been attributed to lower levels of physical and mental health which may impact one's vulnerability to STBBIs⁴⁸.

SOCIOECONOMIC STATUS

While older adults in Canada enjoy an improved standard of living compared to generations past, they are still disproportionately represented in the lower socioeconomic categories in Canada.

Multiple factors can contribute to lower socioeconomic status among older adults, and in particular those over the age of 65. These include retirement and diminished opportunities for employment or advancement, limited or fixed incomes, changes to pension funds, the death of a spouse, and ageism⁴⁹. For those adults over 50 and living with a chronic STBBI, the increased economic costs of self-funded services (e.g. rehabilitation services and complementary and alternative therapies) and the physical and structural limitations which may have impaired their ability to work and earn income when younger, can further impact their present socioeconomic status⁵⁰.

Research indicates that many older adults with lower socioeconomic status have increased rates of chronic disease and lower health-related quality of life scores. They report receiving less medical treatment and having poorer access to health services than their higher-income peers⁵¹. Furthermore, those living on low incomes are more likely to suffer from health conditions related to poor nutrition and in recent years have increased their use of food banks⁵². All of these factors can have an impact on health outcomes and vulnerability to STBBIs⁵³.

GENDER

Many women over 50 report greater difficulty talking about safer sex and sexual health concerns with both their health care providers and potential sexual partners⁵⁴. Even when aware of the sexual health risks, they are more reluctant to raise the issue of condom use with their sexual partners for fear it will result in conflict or rejection. In older age groups, the greater proportion of women to men can also affect the power of older women to negotiate safer sex with male partners. The women may consent to the man's preference to not use condoms out of fear that he may leave for another available partner⁵⁵. Taking these factors into consideration is key to improving the health communication skills and self-efficacy of women over 50 in order to empower them to take control of their sexual health.

SEXUAL ORIENTATION

Older gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men (MSM) also face increased vulnerability to STBBIs when compared to other older adults. Messaging, programs, and interventions addressing STBBIs among this population are primarily targeted at the younger generation. This neglects the education and prevention needs of older gay men and other MSM⁵⁶. Interviews with those who have lived through the HIV epidemic of the 1980s and have had long-term exposure to safer sex campaigns indicate that they are experiencing 'condom fatigue'. This may result in an increase in sexual risk behaviours⁵⁷. This population also reported being less likely than their heterosexual peers to seek health care and social services out of fear of discrimination⁵⁸. Older lesbian and bisexual women report similar experiences and are less likely to share information about their sexual health and intimate relationships with their health care providers as a result of prior negative experiences in disclosing their sexual orientation⁵⁹.

CONDOM FATIGUE: The decreased condom use resulting from overexposure to safer sex messages.

One recent study that examined the physical and mental health of transgendered older adults found that this community was at a significantly higher risk for poorer health, depression, stress and disability in comparison to their non-transgendered LGBT peers⁶⁰. Additionally, gender identity was found to indirectly impact health through a fear of accessing health services, lack of social support, victimization and stigma, all of which can increase vulnerability to STBBIs.

COMING OUT: The act of identifying oneself as lesbian, gay, bisexual or transgendered, and disclosing this to other people.

Adults who are coming out at an older age may also face increased vulnerability as a result of their newly expressed sexual orientation. Lack of familiarity with same-sex relationships, including safer sex negotiation, uncertainty about where to access services and which ones are most appropriate to them, and the fear of stigma and rejection from family and friends can all affect their ability to protect themselves from STBBIs⁶¹.

WHAT ARE THE KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED AND BLOOD BORNE INFECTION (STBBI) PREVENTION AMONG OLDER ADULTS?

CO-MORBIDITIES

The incidence of chronic conditions including high blood pressure, arthritis, heart disease, diabetes, and cancer increases with age. Chronic conditions and their subsequent treatments can weaken or suppress the body's natural immune response thereby increasing the risk of STBBIs⁶². Those living with one or more co-morbidities report taking three or four prescription medications daily, a number that increases with the number of co-morbidities⁶³. The additional medication required to treat an STBBI, when combined with their existing treatments and the decline in liver and kidney function associated with advancing age, can increase the risk of adverse drug reactions and potential side effects⁶⁴.

The management of co-morbidities can be complex. Each chronic condition may require different health care providers and methods of treatment and care, which can be difficult to coordinate and manage. Older adults report multiple barriers to navigating the health care system, including physical barriers such as limited mobility and access to transportation. These barriers may further increase their vulnerability to STBBIs by affecting their ability to attend medical appointments and prevention programs, or to obtain medications⁶⁵.

The experience of co-morbidities can affect STBBI treatment decisions, issues of treatment adherence, and the complexity of disease management. Health care providers need to be aware of these issues and be prepared to treat and offer rehabilitation services to address multiple co-morbidities.

CHALLENGES IN DIAGNOSIS

Many of the signs and symptoms associated with some STBBIs, such as fatigue, weight loss, and loss of appetite, mimic the signs of normal aging and can complicate making an accurate and timely diagnosis and developing a subsequent course of care. The relatively asymptomatic nature of some STBBIs further complicates the diagnosis because many older adults are not as likely to seek treatment or testing for an STBBI unless symptoms have occurred, and even then they are less likely to seek testing⁶⁶. The lack of STBBI risk perception can also result in the dismissal of symptoms when they do arise. Many health care providers, especially those who do not understand the intersection of STBBIs and aging, are also likely to dismiss STBBI symptoms as being age-related⁶⁷. These delays to diagnosis, and ultimately treatment and care, can result in some older adults presenting at more advanced stages of infection, leading to a higher likelihood of complications and poorer prognosis⁶⁸. This underlines the importance of education for this population and their health care providers, and screening for those who are at risk even if symptoms of an STBBI are absent.

BIOLOGICAL AND PHYSIOLOGICAL CHANGES

The loss of immune system function is a natural occurrence of aging. It is associated with an increased susceptibility to infection and can affect an individual's response to treatment. The decreased function of the immune system in older adults has been suggested as one of the reasons they are more likely to progress rapidly from HIV infection to AIDS⁶⁹. Fewer properly working immune cells also increase the time needed to heal from infections, thereby increasing the length of time where one is at increased susceptibility for STBBI co-infection⁷⁰.

Age-related changes in biological function can also increase the risk of STBBI among older women. Lowered estrogen levels, which begin in the early stages of menopause, can lead to decreased vaginal secretions during sex and a thinning of the vaginal walls. This can result in an increase in tissue damage during sexual activity which can facilitate the transmission of STBBIs⁷¹. Similarly, those who engage in anal sex are also at increased risk due to the increased frailty of the anal tissue which becomes more prone to tearing. It is important that education and prevention programs provide this population with the knowledge and tools required to address their biological risk. Practical suggestions and strategies to maintain intimacy while decreasing risk and ensuring access to condoms and other prevention services can help empower older adults to take control of their sexual health.

COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENTS

The gradual decline in various aspects of cognitive functioning is a natural part of aging and generally begins before age 50. This includes declines in:

- memory;
- executive function (planning, strategizing, and self-regulation);
- processing speed;
- · reasoning.

COGNITIVE IMPAIRMENT: A condition where a person has trouble remembering, learning new things, concentrating, or making decisions that affect their everyday life. It can range from mild to severe.

Over time, normal cognitive decline can have some effect on one's functional abilities, including the ability to learn, make decisions, and follow medication regimes, which can increase vulnerability to STBBIs⁷². The decline in executive function can also affect communication skills, which can further impair a person's ability to negotiate safer sex.

Cognitive impairments can also inhibit rational decision-making, affect the ability to adequately assess personal risk, and impair impulse control, which can play a role in increasing risk behaviours⁷³. Additionally, those living with other chronic health conditions such as cardiovascular and neurological diseases are at increased risk for cognitive impairments. The neurological consequences of these conditions or side effects from medications can often impair cognitive functions and communication skills beyond what is expected with aging.

Cognitive impairments affect the health of older adults in many ways. Community organizations and service providers can help mitigate these effects by addressing the impact of cognitive impairment directly through their work. Interventions and programs that understand and address the cognitive impairments associated with aging are essential to the prevention of STBBIs among this population.

WHAT ARE THE KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR OLDER ADULTS LIVING WITH CHRONIC SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED AND BLOOD BORNE INFECTIONS (STBBIS), HIV, AND HEPATITIS C?

While living with a chronic STBBI, such as HIV, can have a restrictive effect on sexual relationships due to concerns about prevention of onward transmission and disclosure, many older PHA continue to be sexually active⁷⁴. As HIV can increase the risk of acquiring other STBBIs, it is important for older PHA to continue to protect themselves from other infections. Older adults living with chronic STBBIs also play a significant role in reducing risk for others. Research indicates that older PHA do engage in sexual risk reduction strategies to protect themselves and their partners, and interventions aimed at increasing risk reduction behaviours among this group can be effective⁷⁵. The meaningful engagement of this population, through their inclusion in the development and implementation of STBBI policies and programs, is seen as an important aspect of STBBI prevention efforts⁷⁶.

MEANINGFUL ENGAGEMENT: A two way process where communities and decision makers talk and listen to understand eachother's perspectives, so they can achieve goals and objectives.

Separate from the issues associated with aging, the health outcomes of older adults living with chronic STBBIs can be further impacted by the following:

- disclosure;
- access to treatment, care and support;
- increased risk for other health conditions;
- psychological and physical well being.

It is important for these issues to be taken into consideration when planning STBBI prevention programs for this population.

DISCLOSURE

Disclosure of one's HIV or hepatitis C status to others, such as family, friends, health care and other service providers is a highly personal decision. People living with chronic STBBIs can make very different decisions about whom to tell and when. While the issue of disclosure can be of concern for those living with chronic hepatitis C, little research investigates the topic. For older PHA, the decision to disclose involves weighing many of the same consequences and benefits to disclosure as younger adults. However, research indicates that, overall, older PHA are less likely than their younger peers to disclose their status to friends, sexual partners, and health care providers⁷⁷. It is estimated that close to 50% have not disclosed their status to their friends, thereby decreasing their opportunities for social support and the chance to discuss and implement treatment options and HIV risk reduction strategies⁷⁸. Higher rates of disclosure are associated with a longer length of time since diagnosis, accessing HIV-related services and the availability of social support⁷⁹.

Concerns related to stigma, discrimination, and rejection by family and friends are factors that can affect their decision to disclose their status⁸⁰. However, some feel a responsibility to provide guidance to younger generations and view disclosure as an opportunity to educate others, making them a key partner in STBBI prevention⁸¹.

ACCESS TO TREATMENT, CARE AND SUPPORT

The increasing number of older adults living with chronic STBBIs, either long-standing or newly diagnosed, poses challenges for various aspects of the health care delivery system and the ability of this population to adequately access it. Traditionally, HIV or hepatitis C care has been provided by infectious disease specialists. As those living with chronic STBBIs grow older, many of these health care providers are not equipped to handle the diverse health care needs associated with aging⁸². Furthermore, those adults over 50 who are newly diagnosed with a chronic STBBI may find their family practitioner or gerontologist unfamiliar with addressing the needs associated with their new diagnosis. As a result, this population often requires two sets of medical providers, which can be a barrier to accessing treatment, care, and support due to costs, transportation concerns and an increased number of appointments.

Older PHA can further experience a 'double jeopardy' where they experience ageism in accessing AIDS service organizations (ASOs), and HIV stigma in accessing non-HIV services⁸³. HIV service organizations may not yet be adequately prepared for older clients and integrating them into programs and services designed for younger people may limit their effectiveness in meeting the needs of both older and younger adults⁸⁴. Additionally, those who are newly diagnosed may have limited knowledge of what HIV-related services are available to them and where they can be found, since many of these service organizations do not target older adults in their awareness campaigns and educational materials.

Given the growing number of adults over 50 living with chronic STBBIs, it is important that community organizations, service providers, and health care professionals work collaboratively to meet the treatment, care, and support needs of people who are both aging and living with a chronic STBBI.

INCREASED RISK FOR OTHER HEALTH CONDITIONS

Advances in treatment are allowing people living with chronic STBBIs to live longer. PHA are now expected to have a relatively normal lifespan. Similar to other adults, they are at risk for chronic conditions associated with aging, including cardiovascular disease, diabetes, arthritis, dementia, and some cancers. However, older adults living with chronic STBBIs have a greater susceptibility to these chronic conditions than the general population⁸⁵. This increased susceptibility may be caused by the infection, the side effects of antiretroviral medication, or a combination of the two. For those who are co-infected with HIV and hepatitis C virus (HCV), the risk of co-morbidities, including liver disease, is even greater than those who are only HIV positive⁸⁶. The existence of co-morbid conditions can also make HIV and HCV more complicated to manage and may limit treatment options. Whether PHA develop these conditions at a younger age then those who are HIV negative is an area presently being investigated⁸⁷.

It is important that community organizations and service providers take into consideration the range of health issues faced by this population, which can limit their participation in STBBI prevention. Addressing quality-of-life concerns, while providing for flexibility and adaptability of programs to meet their needs, can help ensure potential barriers are removed.

PSYCHOLOGICAL AND PHYSICAL WELLBEING

For adults living with a chronic STBBI, aging can prove to be challenging both physically and psychologically. The response of older PHA to anti-retroviral therapy is sometimes more complex than younger PHA due to a lower CD-4 cell recovery in response to treatment and the management of other age-related conditions⁸⁸. These complications can result in frequent adjustments to medications which can increase the likelihood of undesirable side effects. These side effects include fatigue and diarrhea and can contribute to social isolation and decreased treatment compliance⁸⁹.

Studies have shown that older PHA are significantly more socially isolated than younger PHA, a trend that continues to increase with age⁹⁰. Stigma, discrimination, and the loss of friends and social networks have been cited as potential reasons for the social isolation that they experience⁹¹. Older PHA also experience elevated levels of depression when compared to the general population, which has been linked to decreased treatment compliance⁹². Furthermore, uncertainty about the future and the unpredictability of aging with HIV are common concerns and a cause of anxiety⁹³.

People living with a chronic STBBI include those infected in older age and those growing older with the infection. The length of time that they have been living with a chronic STBBI has important implications for their experiences and can affect their needs with respect to education and services, their attitudes and levels of comfort with the diagnosis, sharing of information, and the various issues surrounding living with a chronic STBBI. Health professionals and educators can work with this population to help define the issues that most affect them and learn about their diverse needs in order to meet the goal of aging well with a chronic STBBI.

WHAT CAN I DO TO SUPPORT SEXUALLY TRANSMITTED AND BLOOD BORNE INFECTION (STBBI) PREVENTION AMONG OLDER ADULTS?

PERSONAL

 Reflect on your own, and your organizations', values and beliefs about sexuality, older adults, and aging. What assumptions are you bringing to your work with older adults?
 Taking an inventory of your values, attitudes, assumptions, and beliefs can highlight biases and help you to recognize how your own values might influence how you provide STBBI prevention programs for this population.

PROGRAMMING

- Adopt a life course approach to healthy aging that recognizes the influence of life events
 and transitions on the abilities of older adults to act on health information and make
 healthy decisions. For example, integrate sexual health and STBBI prevention information
 into retirement planning sessions offered through local community centres.
- Engage older adults, especially those who are living with HIV and hepatitis C, in the development and delivery of programs. Older adults can act as information resources and peer educators in the community. Learning from members of their own community who share similar experiences can:
 - improve older adults' understanding, acceptance and the ability to apply STBBI prevention principles;
 - increase the likelihood that STBBI prevention strategies are incorporated into personal health practices;
 - build resiliency and capacity among community members.
- Encourage older adults to get involved in volunteering with health promotion and education programs. Volunteering can help to maintain a sense of purpose and belonging and serves to maintain self-esteem, life satisfaction, and social support.
- Develop age-appropriate and culturally appropriate messages for use in educational materials and programming. Messaging that reflects the needs of older adults and the desired outcomes and behaviours can:
 - increase awareness of personal risk;
 - provide appropriate factual information;
 - specifically link risk reduction with the experiences and situations facing older adults.

It is important to tailor content to different living arrangements and contexts such as community, retirement homes or care facilities. Try to ensure that information materials are accessible for those with visual or hearing impairments.

- Develop STBBI prevention resources that can be accessed independently. Some older adults, such as those living in rural and remote areas or those who are facing mobility challenges, may not be able to access programs and resources that require in-person attendance or that are set up in gathering places. Consider developing resources and programs that can be offered over the internet, by telephone, or ordered by mail. For example, set up training sessions for staff to learn motivational interviewing skills and provide STBBI information by telephone to older adults aimed at reducing sexual risk behaviours. Also, consider linking program websites to existing organizations or agencies that address STBBIs among older adults to help people navigate the system more easily.
- Offer skills-building workshops to enhance older adults' comfort and ability to communicate
 sexual health needs, disclose STBBI status, and negotiate condom use. Increased confidence
 and competency can enhance their ability to implement safer sex practices with their sexual
 partners. Skills-building sessions also provide the opportunity to increase social support and
 social interaction opportunities for older adults.
- Establish support groups for older adults that provide an opportunity to connect with their peers to discuss and share experiences of aging and its impact on psychological, spiritual and physical well-being.
- Provide assistance to older adults in managing their infections. For example, a reminder system could be created wherein health care providers or peers place telephone calls or send text messages to help older adults adhere to their treatment schedule.
- Encourage older adults to practice safer sex by ensuring that resources are readily available
 to them. For example place condoms in accessible areas such as doctors'
 offices and long-term care facilities.

NOTE: At present there is very little research or published evaluations regarding effective STBBI programing and interventions targeting older adults. Further evidence is required to help guide the programmatic response to addressing STBBIs among this age group⁹⁴.

CAPACITY BUILDING

- Build on the available information concerning STBBI prevention and older adults. Research, surveillance, and program evaluations specific to their context can inform interventions, programs, and activities. Areas could include:
 - the impact of determinants of health on aging with or without STBBIs;
 - barriers to STBBI care for older adults;
 - improved monitoring of risk behaviours in older adults.

Results from research and program evaluations could be shared with:

- · other community organizations;
- local health authorities;
- care providers for older adults;
- · provincial or territorial ministries of health;
- · other policy-makers.

For example, present the findings from the evaluation of your activities at local health conferences, symposia, or summits. Sharing evidence about programs and interventions that show promise in preventing STBBIs and improving health outcomes can help others develop programs, policies, or interventions in their own jurisdictions.

- Set up continuous learning opportunities for staff and service providers to learn about:
 - · how the aging process affects STBBI vulnerability;
 - the ways in which social, cultural, and economic conditions affect sexual behaviours, access to programs or services, and vulnerability to STBBIs;
 - strategies for communicating sexual health and STBBI information with older adults;
 - the unique needs of older adults living with chronic STBBIs like HIV and hepatitis C.

For example, create a continuing education module that addresses STBBIs among older adults and provides communication strategies on how to start the conversation. This module could be provided to practicing health care professionals through their professional organizations and to students as part of their curriculum.

PARTNERSHIPS AND COLLABORATION

- Work with seniors' organizations, residential facilities and other community organizations
 that provide care and support to older adults to address common health concerns among
 this population. Hold regular forums with these community partners to exchange ideas
 and identify areas for collaboration while working toward common goals. For example,
 collaboration between seniors' organizations and STI clinics can increase the capacity of
 service providers to make referrals for services and resources outside of their own sectors.
- Improve coordination between service providers by offering STBBI testing and related services at a central access point where patients can access both medical and social services. For example, offer STBBI testing along with screenings and wellness exams, flu shots, mental health screenings, blood pressure check-ups, or a social event.
- Collaborate with other community groups and services organizations to address ageism
 and its effects on health. For example, create or build onto an existing public awareness
 campaign to combat ageism. Providing a realistic portrayal of older adults as active and
 contributing members of society can both counteract the myths and stereotypes associated
 with aging and empower older adults to recognize the ageism they experience and
 respond to it.
- Provide services in a variety of settings. Multiple points of access within the community
 will greatly enhance the ability of older adults to access STBBI prevention information
 and programs. For example, consider establishing mobile services to offer STBBI testing
 and medication drop-offs where they live, such as retirement complexes or assisted living
 facilities. Additionally, sexual health information could be built into programming in seniors'
 centres and recreation centres to ensure access to the information.

- Create tools to increase awareness of STBBI programs and services available in the area.
 Older adults may be less likely to access services because they are unaware of what is
 available to them. For example, collaboration could be considered with other community
 organizations to establish a resource database of programs and services related to STBBIs
 for older adults. The database could be shared with the community in a variety of formats
 including public websites or in print form in a variety of settings such as retirement homes
 and assisted living communities.
- Consider partnering with tour companies and travel agencies that provide services for older adults to offer STBBI prevention, information and toolkits, including condoms, to snowbirds and frequent travellers.

HOW CAN I HELP TO BUILD RESILIENCE AMONG OLDER ADULTS?

Resilience requires a set of skills or a way of thinking that enables individuals to cope with stress and adversity. Building resilience is important throughout life to enable individuals to overcome challenges and avoid the effects of risks they face, especially as they move into older age. Poor coping skills, combined with social, structural, or economic barriers can limit opportunities available to older adults and affect their ability to cope with negative experiences and circumstances that impact their health.

Research has shown that several resilience factors are associated with positive aging⁹⁵:

- access to supportive relationships (peers, family, community);
- a strong personal identity (sense of purpose, beliefs, and values);
- a strong sense of personal power (ability to effect change in your own environment);
- a positive outlook on aging (remaining hopeful about an uncertain future);
- an ability to accept help and support (ability to re-value dependence as a way to adapt to changing circumstances);
- an ability to change and adapt (be open to new ideas, values, and experiences);
- a balanced view of life as a result of wisdom and insight (capability to analyze and understand situations);
- the power of giving (finding ways to be meaningful to others).

Community organizations, health professionals, and service providers can do several key things to build the resilience of older adults.

- Facilitate opportunities for older adults to remain socially connected, including activities
 and programs that strengthen existing social ties and enable the creation of new ones.
 This can lead to decreased isolation and improved health as well as a stronger sense of
 belonging for both individuals and their communities.
- Build individual capacity by creating opportunities for older adults to maintain a sense of
 purpose in their lives. Engaging in activities and functions, such as volunteering, can allow
 for continued personal growth and a chance to participate in meaningful roles by helping
 one another. This can lead to an increased sense of self-worth and self-esteem and provide
 a more positive outlook on themselves and their community.
- Help create and promote environments that are safe and inclusive to older adults. Accessible
 environments that are tailored to one's specific needs and abilities can increase their level of
 community integration and provide greater opportunities for social interactions.
- Increasing understanding and awareness among individuals and communities of the impact of ageism and other forms of discrimination can help dispel stereotypes while improving the sense of belonging and identification among older adults.
- Support older adults in maintaining a healthy diet and active lifestyle and addressing modifiable risk factors such as smoking and substance use. Staying physically and mentally active and healthy can reduce stress and depression and improve quality of life.

Although older adults can experience stressful life events and negative circumstances that place them at risk for STBBIs, many have sources of strength that help them cope and adapt positively. Older adults with strong social support networks and positive beliefs about themselves and their life situations are more capable of making positive health-related decisions and avoiding negative health outcomes, such as STBBIs. Community organizations, health professionals, and service providers have an important role to play in helping to protect and improve the health of this population by fostering resilience and building individual and community capacity.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

It is important to recognize that disparities that affect vulnerability to STBBIs continue to exist into older age. Multiple factors across the lifespan contribute to vulnerability to STBBIs. As a result, some older adults are diagnosed with STBBIs later in life while others are aging with chronic STBBIs resulting from exposure at a younger age.

Given Canada's aging population, integrated STBBI prevention strategies should consider all aspects of an individual's health and recognize sexual health and STBBI prevention as important components of healthy aging. It is also important for STBBI programs, policies, and interventions to address the various social, structural, and economic determinants of health that affect vulnerability to, and resilience against, poor health outcomes among adults over 50.

Older adults in Canada are a diverse demographic with varying needs and life experiences. Addressing STBBIs among this population requires an individually tailored and multifaceted approach. Providing age-appropriate and culturally appropriate education materials, supporting inclusion and engagement in the community, enhancing self-efficacy and capacity to communicate sexual health needs, and addressing societal attitudes, misconceptions, and age-related discrimination related to STBBIs can provide opportunities for adults over 50 to make healthy choices and maintain quality of life. Adopting a broader perspective of aging in addressing STBBIs—one that focuses on wellness and individual strengths—can help reduce health disparities and improve health outcomes for all older adults.

ADDITIONAL RESOURCES

The opinions expressed in these resources are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the official view of the Public Health Agency of Canada. In addition, readers may wish to consult other resources developed by the Agency.

NOTE: Before using these resources with clients, it is advisable to preview them as some may contain sensitive content that may not be appropriate for all audiences.

ORGANIZATIONS

Calgary Sexual Health

www.calgarysexualhealth.ca/sexual-health-info/sexuality-aging

304, 301–14th Street N.W. Calgary, Alberta T2N 2A1

Tel: 403-283-5580 Fax: 403-270-3209

E-mail: generalmail@calgarysexualhealth.ca

Calgary Sexual Health offers sexual health programs and workshops with a focus on healthy bodies, healthy relationships and healthy communities. Their Older Adults and Seniors program provides educational resources and community programs on sexual health and wellness for older adults in addition to workshops and skill training for health care professionals.

OPTIONS Sexual Health Association

www.optionssexualhealth.ca

#50, 9912–106 Street Edmonton, AB T5K 1C5

Tel: 780-423-3737 Fax: 780-425-1782

E-mail: options@optionssexualhealth.ca

The Sexuality and Aging program at OPTIONS provides information and support on sexual health related issues to meet the specific needs of older adults. Services include workshops and presentations, training for community leaders as sexual health educators, community based sexual health needs assessment and education.

Rainbow Health Ontario

www.rainbowhealthontario.ca

Sherbourne Health Centre 333 Sherbourne Street Toronto, ON M5A 2S5 Tel: 416-324-4100

Fax: 416-324-4262

Email: info@rainbowhealthontario.ca

Rainbow Health Ontario (RHO) is a province-wide program that works to improve the health and well-being of LGBTQ people through education, research, outreach and public policy advocacy. The RHO website provides searchable databases of trainers, training resources, researchers and research for LGBT people and their health care providers. This includes resources related to older adults.

Sexuality Education Resource Centre (SERC) Manitoba

www.serc.mb.ca

200–226 Osborne St. N Winnipeg, MB R3C 1V4

Tel: 204-982-7800 Fax: 204-982-7819 E-mail: info@serc.mb.ca

SERC is a community-based, non-profit, pro-choice organization. SERC's mission is to promote sexual health through education. Services for older adults include community education on STIs, sexuality and orientation to health services and information and development of education resources, referrals to other services and training for service providers.

QMUNITY

www.qmunity.ca

1170 Bute Street Vancouver, BC V6E 1Z6

Tel: 604-684-5307

E-mail: reception@qmunity.ca

QMUNITY is a community based resource centre, providing LGBTQ programs, education, training and advocacy. Their QMUNITY Generations program provides an innovative approach to age specific service delivery, education, and community development. Services for older LGBTQ adults include health and social support groups and educational workshops. Training for health care providers is available through their Aging Out project.

519 Church Street Community Centre

www.the519.org

519 Church Street Toronto, ON M4Y 2C9 Tel: 416-392-6874

Fax: 416-392-0519 Email: info@the519.org

The 519 offers a range of services for LGBTQ older adults and the service providers who work with them that incorporate community engagement, information and referrals, education, social and support activities.

NON-FICTION BOOKS

Gott, M. (2005). Sexuality, Sexual Health and Aging. Berkshire, UK. Open University Press.

Sexuality, Sexual Health and Aging integrates theoretical insights into sexuality, sexual health and ageing with research findings from studies involving older adults and the health professionals that work with them. The book explores several topics including: the stereotypes that typify contemporary understandings of sexuality and aging; a review of current literature on sexuality and aging; and what 'sexual health' means within the context of aging with a focus on issues relevant to health professionals working with older people.

Hillmam, J. (2012). Sexuality and Aging: Clinical Perspectives. New York, NY. Springer.

Sexuality and Aging: Clinical Perspectives is a comprehensive resource on sexual health concerns among older adults. This resource provides up to date information to assist health professionals in answering questions more accurately and helping older adults to navigate the changes and challenges that accompany aging.

ONLINE RESOURCES

Aging with Chronic Sexually Transmitted and Blood Borne Infections (STBBIs) Information Guides

www.catie.ca/en/resources/one-foot-forward-gipa-training-toolkit-module-10-active-aging-and-hiv www.catie.ca/en/resources/pocket-guide-aging-women-living-hiv

These resource guides were developed for older adults living with HIV. They provide basic information on living with HIV, health maintenance, community involvement and the challenges posed by aging with HIV.

Canadian AIDS Society

www.cdnaids.ca

HIV and Aging Fact Sheets www.cdnaids.ca/hiv-and-aging

Canadian AIDS Society 190 O'Connor St., Suite 100 Ottawa, ON K2P 2R3

Tel: 613-230-3580

Toll Free: 1-800-499-1986

Fax: 613-563-4998

E-mail: casinfo@cdnaids.ca

The Canadian AIDS Society (CAS) is non-profit organization that represents community-based AIDS organizations across the country. They strive to strengthen the response to HIV/AIDS in Canada and enrich the lives of people and communities living with HIV/AIDS through promoting education and awareness, providing information and resources, mobilizing communities and advocacy.

Canadian Working Group on HIV and Rehabilitation

www.hivandrehab.ca

HIV and Aging

www.hivandrehab.ca/EN/HIV%20and%20Aging/HIVandAging.php

Canadian Working Group on HIV and Rehabilitation 1240 Bay St, Suite 600 Toronto, ON M5R 2A7

Tel: 416-513-0440 Fax: 416-595-0094

E-mail: info@hivandrehab.ca

The Canadian Working Group on HIV and Rehabilitation (CWGHR) is a national not for profit organization that responds to the rehabilitation needs of people living with HIV/AIDS. Their online section on HIV and Aging includes resources related to programs and services for those aging with HIV and clinical and research resources for service providers.

MIELS-Québec

www.miels.org

Vieillir avec le VIH-sida, nouvelle réalité et enjeux pour MIELS-Québec www.miels.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/Vieillir-avec-le-VIH-sida-MIELS-Qc.pdf

625, avenue Chouinard Quebec, QC G1S 3E3 Tel: 418-649-1720 Fax: 418-649-1256

E-mail: miels@miels.org

MIELS-Québec is a non-profit community based organization providing HIV/AIDS services in Quebec. This French language reference document, created to inform their internal transformation, provides guidance in adapting existing HIV/AIDS programming and service provision to be inclusive to older adults living with HIV.

National Seniors Council

www.seniorscouncil.gc.ca/eng/home.shtml

Report on the Social Isolation of Seniors

www.seniorscouncil.gc.ca/eng/research_publications/social_isolation/page00.shtml

Phase IV, 8th Floor, Mail Stop 802 140 Promenade du Portage Gatineau, Quebec K1A 0J9

The National Seniors Council provides advice to the Government of Canada on all matters related to the well-being and quality of life of seniors. This resource provides information on the impact of social isolation, the factors that increase the risk for older adults and ways to prevent or minimize its effects.

SageHealth Network

www.sagehealthnetwork.com/index.html

SageHealth Network Tel: 647-831-6630

Email: info@sagehealthnetwork.com

SageHealth Network is dedicated to promoting the sexual health, socialization and positive aging of older adults, seniors and caregivers. The SageHealth network provides a series of workshops which focus on a variety of issues including understanding and correcting negative stereotypes of aging, acknowledgment and advocacy of elder sexuality, and understanding how sexuality and intimacy contribute to positive ageing.

Sexuality and U

www.sexualityandu.ca

Sex over Fifty

www.sexualityandu.ca/sexual-health/sex-over-fifty

The Society of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Canada 780 Echo Drive Ottawa, ON K1S 5R7

Tel: 613-730-4192

Toll Free: 1-800-561-2416

Fax: 613-730-4314

E-mail: helpdesk@sogc.com

www.sexualityandu.ca is committed to providing credible and up-to-date information and education on sexual health for health care professionals and the general public. The Sex over Fifty section of their website includes strategies on how to address sexual health among older adults.

ENDNOTES

- (1) Public Health Agency of Canada. (2008). Canadian Guidelines for Sexual Health Education (3rd Ed.).
- (2) Gott, M.C. (2001). Sexual activity and risk taking in later life. *Health and Social Care in the Community*, 9(2), 72–8; Lindau S.T., Schumm, M.A., Laumann, E.O., Levinson, M.D., O'Muircheartaigh C.A., and Waite L.J. (2007). A study of sexuality and health among older adults in the United States. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 357, 762–74.
- (3) Gott, M., and Hinchliff, S. (2003). How important is sex late in life? The views of older people. *Social Science and Medicine*, 56, 1617–28; Huang, J.H., Subak, L.L., Thom D.H., Van Den Eeden, S.K., Ragins A.I., Kuppermann, M., Shen, H., and Brown, J.S. (2009). Sexual Function and Aging in Racially and Ethnically Diverse Women. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 57, 1362–8; Lindau et al 2007.
- (4) Gott and Hinchliff (2003). Lindau et al. (2007).
- (5) Hartel, D.M., Schoenbaum, E.E., Lo, L., and Klein, R.S. (2006). Gender Differences in Illicit Substance Use among Middle-Aged Drug Users with or at Risk for HIV Infection. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 43, 525–31; Levy, B.R., Ding, L., Lakra, D., Kosteas, J., and Niccolai, L. (2007). Older Persons' Exclusion from Sexually Transmitted Disease Risk-Reduction Clinical Trials. *Sexually Transmitted Diseases*, 34(8), 541–44.
- (6) Statistics Canada. (2011). Census of Canada, Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 98-311-XCB2011018.
- (7) Public Health Agency of Canada. (2013). HIV and AIDS in Canada. Surveillance Report to December 31, 2012.
- (8) Public Health Agency of Canada. (2014). Report on Sexually Transmitted Infections in Canada: 2011.
- (9) Ibid.
- (10) Estimated prevalence of HCV infection in Canada, 2011.
- (11) Maes and Louis. (2003); Savasta, A.M. (2004). HIV: Associated Transmission Risks in Older Adults: An Integrative Review of the Literature. *Journal of the Association of Nurses in AIDS Care*, 15(1), 50–9. Public Health Agency of Canada (2012). 2012 HIV/AIDS Attitudinal Tracking Survey.
- (12) Poynten, M.I., Grulich, A.E., and Templeton, D.J. (2013). Sexually transmitted infections in older populations. *Current Opinion in Infectious Disease*, 26, 80–5; Savasta. (2004).
- (13) Tupper, K.W. (2013). Sex, drugs and the honour roll: the perennial challenges of addressing moral purity issues in schools. *Critical Public Health*, 24(2),115–131.
- (14) Bodley-Tickell, A.T., Olowokure, B., Bhaduri, S., White, D.J., Ward, D., Ross, J.D.C., Smith, G., Duggall, H.V., and Goold, P. (2008). Trends in sexually transmitted infections (other than HIV) in older people: analysis of data from an enhanced surveillance system. *Sexually Transmitted Infections*, 84, 312–7; Levy et al. (2007).
- (15) Orel, N. A., Spence, M. and Steele, J. (2005). Getting the Message Out to Older Adults: Effective HIV Health Education Risk Reduction Publications. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 24(5), 490–508.
- (16) Levy et al. (2007).
- (17) Ibid.
- (18) Canadian Liver Foundation. (2010).

- (19) Public Health Agency of Canada (2014). Estimated prevalence of Hepatitis C Virus infection in Canada, 2011.
- (20) Abel, T., and Werner, M. (2003). HIV risk behaviour of older persons. *European Journal of Public Health*, 13(4), 350–2; Linsk, N.L., Fowler, J.P., and Klein, S.J. (2003). HIV/AIDS Prevention and Care Services and Services for the Aging: Bridging the Gap between Service Systems to Assist Older People. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 33, S243–50.
- (21) Schick, V., Herbenick, D., Reece, M., Sanders, S.A., Dodge, B., Middlestadt, S.E., and Fortenberry, J.D. (2010). Sexual Behaviors, Condom Use, and Sexual Health of Americans Over 50: Implications for Sexual Health Promotion for Older Adults. *International Society for Sexual Medicine*, 7(suppl5), 315–39. Stall, R., and Catania, J. (1994). AIDS Risk Behaviors among Late Middle-aged and Elderly Americans. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 154, 57–63.
- (22) Canadian Liver Foundation (2010). New Canadian Liver Foundation Poll Finds Canadian Boomers Have Active Sex Lives, But Many Aren't Playing it Safe. Retrieved from www.liver.ca/Liver_News/livernews10051001.aspx; Lindau et al (2007); Lindau S.T., Leitsch S.A., Lundberg, K.L., and Jerome, J. (2006). Older Women's Attitudes, Behavior and Communication about Sex and HIV: A Community-Based Survey. Journal of Women's Health, 15(6), 747–53; Maes, C.A., and Louis, M. (2003). Knowledge of AIDS, Perceived Risk of AIDS and At-Risk Sexual Behaviours among Older Adults. Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners, 15(11), 509–16.
- (23) Negin, J., Rozea, A., and Martiniuk, A. (2014). HIV behavioural interventions targeted towards older adults: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health*, 14, 507
- (24) Statistics Canada. (2012). 2011 Census of Canada. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 98-312-XCB2011039.
- (25) Bateson, D.J., Weisberg, E., McCaffery, K.J., and Luscombe, G.M. (2012). When online becomes offline: attitudes to safer sex practices in older and younger women using an Australian internet dating service. Sexual Health, 9, 152–159. Minichiello, V., Hawkes, G., and Pitts, M. (2011). HIV, Sexually Transmitted Infections, and Sexuality in Later Life. Current Infectious Disease Report, 13, 182–7.
- (26) Davis, T., and Zanjani, F. (2012). Prevention of HIV among Older Adults: A Literature Review and Recommendations for Future Research. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 24(8), 1399–1420.
- (27) Zablotsky, D., Kennedy, M. (2003). Risk Factors and HIV Transmission to Midlife and Older Women: Knowledge, Options and the Initiatiion of Safer Sexual Practices. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 33, S122–S130.
- (28) Gott, M., Hinchliff, S., and Galena, E. (2004). General practitioner attitudes to discussing sexual health issues with older people. Social Science and Medicine. 58, 2093–2103. Hinchliff, S. and Gott, M. (2011). Seeking Medical Help for Sexual Concerns in Mid- and Later Life: A Review of the Literature. Journal of Sex Research, 48(2–3), 106–17. Iyer, K.V., Arumugam, V., Castor, T., Malik, R. and Ehrlich, A. (2011). Physicians' screening for HIV risk factors in older adults. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 59,S200.
- (29) Ibid.
- (30) Nusbaum, M.R.H., Singh, A.R., and Pyles, A.A. (2004). Sexual Healthcare Needs of Women Aged 65 and Older. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 52, 117–22.
- (31) Gott, M.C. (2001). Sexual Activity and risk taking later in life. *Health and Social Care in the Community*, 9(2), 720–8.
- (32) Henderson, et al. (2004)

- (33) Rogstad, K.E. (2004). Sex, sun, sea and STIs: sexually transmitted infections acquired on holiday. British Journal of Medicine, 329(7459), 214–7.
- (34) Agate et al. (2003). Mairs, K., and Bullock, S.L. (2013). Sexual-Risk Behaviour and HIV Testing among Canadian Snowbirds Who Winter in Florida. *Canadian Journal on Aging*, 32(2), 145–58.
- (35) Mairs and Bullock. (2013).
- (36) Ontario Human Rights Commission. (2014). Age and Age Discrimination (fact sheet). Retrieved from www.ohrc.on.ca/en/ageism-and-age-discrimination-fact-sheet. Revera and the International Federation on Ageing. (2012). Revera Report on Ageism. Retrieved from www.reveraliving.com/About-Us/Media-Centre/Revera-Report-on-Ageism/docs/Report_Ageism.aspx
- (37) Public Health Agency of Canada. (2013). Population-Specific HIV/AIDS Status Report. People Living with HIV/AIDS.
- (38) Levy, B.R. (2003). Mind Matter: Cognitive and Physical Effects of Aging Self-Stereotypes. *Journal of Gerontology*, 58B(4), P203–P211.
- (39) Bodley-Tickell et al. (2008); Savasta. (2004).
- (40) Mental Health Commission of Canada (2014). Topics: Seniors. Retrieved from www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/English/issues/seniors Mental Health Commission of Canada (2011). Guidelines for comprehensive mental health services for older adults in Canada. Retrieved from www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/English/system/files/private/document/mhcc_seniors_guidelines.pdf
- (41) Patel, V., Flisher, A.J., Hetrick S., and McGorry, P. (2007). Mental health of young people: a global public-health challenge. *The Lancet*, 369, 1302–13.
- (42) Lovejoy, T.I., Heckman, T.G., Sikkema, K.J., Hansen, N.B., and Kochman, A. (2014). Changes in Sexual Behaviour of HIV Infected Older Adults Enrolled in a Clinical Trial of Standalone Group Psychotherapies Targeting Depression. *AIDS and Behaviour*, doi: 10.1007/s10461-014-0746-7.
- (43) Fredriksen-Goldsen, K., Kim, H.J., and Emlet, C. (2014). The relationship between self-stigma, self-efficacy, social support and HIV risk behavior among vulnerable older adults: implications for access to HIV prevention interventions. 6th IAS Conference on HIV Pathogenesis and Treatment, Abstract no. CDC365; Foster, V., Clark, P. C., McDonnell Holstad, M. and Burgess, E. (2010). Factors Associated With Risky Sexual Behaviors in Older Adults. Journal of the Association of Nurses in AIDS Care, 23(6), 487–99.
- (44) Institute of Economic Affairs. (2013). Work Longer, Live Healthier. The relationship between economic activity, health and government policy. Retrieved from www.iea.org.uk/sites/default/files/publications/files/Work%20Longer,%20Live_Healthier.pdf
- (45) Murray, J., and Adam, B.D. (2001). Aging and HIV Risk among Gay Men. AIDS Committee of Toronto. Retrieved from www.actoronto.org/research.nsf/pages/ageing+and+hiv; Public Health Agency of Canada. (2013). Population-Specific HIV/AIDS Status Report. People Living with HIV/AIDS.
- (46) Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. (2010). Best practice guidelines for mental health promotion programs. Retrieved from https://knowledgex.camh.net/policy_health/mhpromotion/mhp_older_adults/Pages/protective_factors_mhp.aspx
- (47) Agate, L.L., Mullins, J.M., Prudent, E.S., and Liberti, T.M. (2003). Strategies for Reaching Retirement Communities and Aging Social Networks: HIV/AIDS Prevention Activities among Seniors in South Florida. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 33, S238–42; Orel, Spence, and Steele. (2005).

- (48) Statistics Canada. (2012). Social Participation and the Health and Well-being of Canadian Seniors. Catalogue no. 82-003-XPE.
- (49) American Psychological Association. (2014). Fact Sheet: Age and Socioeconomic Status. Retrieved from www.apa.org/pi/ses/resources/publications/factsheet-age.aspx
- (50) Public Health Agency of Canada. (2013). Population-Specific HIV/AIDS Status Report. People Living with HIV/AIDS.
- (51) American Psychological Association. (2014); Grundy, E., and Sloggett, A. (2003). Health inequalities in the older adult: the role of personal capital, social resources and socio-economic circumstances. *Social Science and Medicine*, 56, 935–47.
- (52) Food Banks Canada. (2013). Hungercount. Retrieved from www.foodbankscanada.ca/FoodBanks/ MediaLibrary/HungerCount/HungerCount2013.pdf; Guelph and Wellington Task Force for Poverty Elimination. (2012). Older Adults Living on a Low Income. Retrieved from www.gwpoverty.ca/ wp-content/uploads/2012/09/02.-OLDER-ADULTS-LIVING-IN-LOW-INCOME2.pdf
- (53) American Psychological Association. (2014). HIV/AIDS & Socioeconomic Status. Retrieved from www.apa.org/pi/ses/resources/publications/factsheet-hiv-aids.aspx
- (54) Morton, C.R., Kim, H., and Treise, D. (2011). Safe Sex after 50 and Mature Women's Beliefs of Sexual Health. *The Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 45(3), 372–90; Neundorfer, M.M., Harris P.B., Britton P.J., and Lynch, D.A. (2005). HIV-Risk Factors for Midlife and Older Women. *The Gerontologist*, 45(5), 617–25.
- (55) Canadian Aids Society. (2013). HIV and Aging in Canada: Prevention. Retrieved from www.cdnaids.ca/files.nsf/pages/hiv_aging_4-prevention-factsheet/\$file/HIV_aging_4-Prevention-FactSheet.pdf;
 Morton, Kim, and Treise. (2011).
- (56) O'Shea, J. (2006). *HIV Risk-Taking among Older Gay Men*. Concordia University. Retrieved from www.citation.allacademic.com//meta/p_mla_apa_research_citation/1/0/3/0/4/pages103049/p103049-1.php
- (57) Coleman, C.L., Jemmott, L., Jemmott, J.B., Strumpf, N., and Ratcliffe, S. (2009). Development of an HIV Risk Reduction Intervention for Older Seropositive African American Men. *AIDS Patient Care and Sexually Transmitted Diseases*, 23(8), 647–55. Murray and Adam. (2001).
- (58) King, S.D., and Orel, N. (2012). Midlife and Older Gay Men Living with HIV/AIDS: The Influence of Resiliency and Psychosocial Stress Factors on Health Needs. *Journal of Gay and Lesbian Social Services*, 24(4), 346–70.
- (59) Politi, M. C., Clark, M.A., Armstrong, G., McGarry, K. A., and Sciamanna, C.N. (2009). Patient-Provider Communication about Sexual Health among Unmarried Middle-aged and Older Women. *Journal of Geriatric Internal Medicine*, 24(4), 511–6.
- (60) Fredriksen-Goldsen, K.I., Cook-Daniels, L., Kim, H.J., Erosheva, E.A. et al (2013). The Gerontologist, doi:10.1093/geront/gnt021
- (61) Australia Federation of AIDS Organizations. (2007). Out Late. A guide for older men coming out. Retrieved from www.acon.org.au/sites/default/files/OutLate07_webversion.pdf
- (62) Wooten-Bielski, K. (1999). HIV and AIDS in Older Adults. Geriatric Nursing, 20(5), 268-72.
- (63) Canadian Institute for Health Information. (2011). Seniors and the Health Care System: What is the Impact of Multiple Chronic Conditions? Retrieved from https://secure.cihi.ca/free_products/air-chronic_disease_aib_en.pdf

- (64) Canadian Institute for Health Information (2011); Justice, A., and Falutz, J. Aging and HIV: an evolving understanding. *Current Opinion in HIV and AIDS*, 9, 291–93.
- (65) Corcoran, K., McNab, J., Girgis, S., and Colagiuri, R. (2011). Is Transport a Barrier to Healthcare for Older People with Chronic Diseases? *Asia Pacific Journal of Health Management*, 7(1), 49–56.
- (66) Orel, Wright, and Wagner. (2004); Siegel, K., Schrimshaw, E.W., and Dean, L. (1999). Symptom interpretation: Implications for delay in HIV testing and care among HIV infected later middle-aged and older adults. AIDS Care: Psychological and Socio-medical Aspects of AIDS/HIV, 11(5), 525–35.
- (67) Maes and Louis. (2003).
- (68) Smith, R.D., Delpech, V.C., Brown, A.E., and Rice, B.D. (2010). HIV transmission and high rates of late diagnoses among adults aged 50 years and over. *AIDS*, 24(13), 2009–15.
- (69) Beaulaurier, R.L., Craig S.L., and De La Rosa, M. (2009). Older Latina Women and HIV/AIDS: An Examination of Sexuality and Culture as they Relate to Risk and Protective Factors. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, 52(1), 48–63; Wooten. (1999).
- (70) Nusbaum, Singh, and Pyles. (2004).
- (71) Beaulaurier, Craig, and De La Rosa. (2009); Orel, Wright, and Wagner. (2004); Levy et al. (2007).
- (72) Williams, K., and Kemper, S. (2010). Exploring Interventions to Reduce Cognitive Decline in Aging. Journal of Psychosocial Nursing and Mental Health Services, 48(5), 42–51.
- (73) Anand, P., Springer, S.A., Copenhaver, M.M., and Altice, F.L. (2010). Neurocognitive Impairment and HIV Risk Factors: A Reciprocal Relationship. *AIDS and Behavior*, 14(6), 1213–26.
- (74) Brennan, D.J., Emlet, C.A., and Eady, A. (2011). HIV, Sexual Health and Psychosocial Issues Among Older Adults Living with HIV in North America. Ageing International, 36, 313–333. Ontario HIV Treatment Network (2012). Evidence Informing the Intersection of HIV, Aging and Health: A Scoping Review. Public Health Agency of Canada. (2013). Population-Specific HIV/AIDS Status Report. People Living with HIV/AIDS.
- (75) Brennan, Emlet and Eady (2011). Illa, L., Echenique, M., Stain Jean, G., Bustamante-Avellaneda, V. et al (2010). Project ROADMAP: Reeducating Older Adults in Mainting AIDS Prevention: A Secondary Intervention for Older HIV-Positive Adults. ADIS Education and Prevention, 22(2), 137–47. Negin, Rosea and Martiniuk (2012),
- (76) Canadian AIDS Society. (2013). HIV and Aging in Canada: Prevention.
- (77) Emlet, C.A. (2006). A Comparison of HIV Stigma and Disclosure Patterns between Older and Younger Adults Living with HIV/AIDS. *AIDS Patient Care and STDs*, 20(5), 350–8.
- (78) Minichiello, Hawkes, and Pitts. (2011); Public Health Agency of Canada. (2013). *Population-Specific HIV/AIDS Status Report. People Living with HIV/AIDS*.
- (79) Emlet. (2006).
- (80) Emlet, C.A. (2008). Trust and consequences: a qualitative exploration of HIV disclosure in older adults. *AIDS Care*, 20(6), 710–7.
- (81) Emlet. (2008).
- (82) Rueda, Law, and Rourke. (2014).

- (83) Public Health Agency of Canada. (2013). Population-Specific HIV/AIDS Status Report. People Living with HIV/AIDS.
- (84) Linsk, Fowler, and Klein. (2003).
- (85) Public Health Agency of Canada. (2013). Population-Specific HIV/AIDS Status Report. People Living with HIV/AIDS.
- (86) Goulet, J.L., Fultz, S.L., McGinnis, K.A., and Justice, A.C. (2005). Relative prevalence of comorbidities and treatment contraindications in HIV-mono-infected and HIV/HCV-co-infected veterans. *AIDS*, 19(suppl 3), S99–S105. Lancombe, K. and Rockstroh, J. (2012). HIV and viral hepatitis coinfections: advances and challenges. *Gut*, 61(suppl 1), i47–i58.
- (87) Althoff, K.N., McGinnis, K.A., Wyatt, C.M., Freiberg, M.S. et al (2014). Comparison of Risk and Age at Diagnosis of Myocardial Infarction, End-Stage Renal Disease, and Non-AIDS-Defining Cancer in HIV Infected Versus Uninfected Adults. Clinical Infectious Diseases, doi: 10.1093/cid/ciu869. Public Health Agency of Canada. (2013). Population-Specific HIV/AIDS Status Report. People Living with HIV/AIDS.
- (88) Brañas, F., Berenquer, J., Sánchez-Conde, M., López-Bernaldo de Quirós, J.C., Miralles, P., Cosín, J., and Serra, J.A. (2008). The Eldest of Older Adults Living with HIV: Response and Adherence to Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy. American Journal of Medicine, 121(9), 820–4.
- (89) Orel, Spence, and Steele. (2005).
- (90) Emlet, C.A., Tozay, S., and Raveis, V.H. (2010). "I'm Not Going to Die from the AIDS": Resilience in Aging with HIV Disease. *The Gerontologist*, 51(1), 101–11; Rueda, Law, and Rourke. (2014).
- (91) Rueda, Law, and Rourke. (2014).
- (92) Gonzalez, J.S., Batchelder, A.W., Psaros, C. and Safre, S.A. (2011). Depression and HIV/AIDS Treatment Nonadherence: A Review and Mea-Analysis. *Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome*, 58(2), doi:10.1097/QAI.0b013e31822d490a. Minichiello, Hawkes, and Pitts. (2011).
- (93) Rueda, Law, and Rourke. (2014).
- (94) Negin, Rozea and Martiniuk (2014).
- (95) Emlet, Tozay, and Raveis (2010); Janssen, B.M., Regenmortel, T.V., and Abma, T.A. (2011). Identifying sources of strength: resilience from the perspective of older people receiving long-term community care. *European Journal of Ageing*, 8, 145–56.